

Faculty of Biosciences, Fisheries and Economics (BFE)

Department of Arctic and Marine biology (AMB)

Can ground nesting birds escape predation by breeding in less productive habitats?

A large-scale artificial nest study from Finnmark, Northern Norway

Mari Jacobsen Master thesis in Biology, BIO 3950, May 2014





Abstract

Predation is known to be one of the most important causes of nest failure in ground nesting birds, and many populations are experiencing a decline in breeding success worldwide. Predator abundance are expected to be highest closer to productive areas (i.e. Ecosystem exploitation hypothesis), and vary according to the availability of other prey (i.e. Alternative prey hypothesis). I hypothesized that ground-nesting birds can escape predation by breeding in less productive habitats, and that predation rates will vary according to small rodent abundances. To test these hypotheses artificial nests were deployed in nine study areas in Finnmark, northern Norway, over a four-year period along replicated distance-gradients from the forest border and into tundra plateaus (n=180*4 years). Predation rates varied annually according to small rodent abundances in support of the alternative prey hypothesis. Highest predation rates were found on nests placed furthest away from the forest border, and are therefore not in support of my productivity hypothesis. Ground nesting birds that breed on the tundra experience higher predation pressure than birds breeding in more productive habitats (e.g. forests), which might be a result of higher visibility of nests, and responses to the abundance of main prey or subsidies in nest predators.

Key words: Artificial nest; EEH; Alternative prey hypothesis; Ground nesting birds; Nest predation; Subsidies

Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Material and methods	3
2.1 Study area	3
2.2 Study design	5
2.3 Artificial nests	7
2.4 Statistical analyses	9
3. Results	11
3.1 Nest predation rates	11
3.2 Predator identity	13
4. Discussion	14
Conclusion	17
Acknowledgements	19
References	20

1. Introduction

During the last decades increased focus has been directed to the recent changes seen for many populations of ground nesting birds, with a decline in breeding success worldwide (Storch and Willebrand 1991, Summers et al. 2004, Pedersen and Karlsen 2007, Storch 2007). Predation is thought to be the most important cause of nest failure in ground nesting birds (Jehl 1970, Myrberget 1984, Steen and Haugvold 2009), and predation rates are known to vary between years and locations (Storch and Willebrand 1991, Munkebye et al. 2003, McKinnon and Bety 2009). McKinnon et al (2010) found a twofold increase in nest predation risk on artificial nests across a latitudinal gradient in Canada from high Arctic to sub-arctic tundra near boreal forests. They suggested that the cost of migration of high-arctic waders was offset by lower predation risks in high latitude ecosystems.

Arctic terrestrial ecosystems are generally thought to be less productive than boreal ecosystems. The ecosystem exploitation hypothesis predicts that predator abundance should increase with increasing primary productivity (Oksanen and Oksanen 1981). Killengreen et al. (2012) found some predators to be associated with birch forest, suggesting a neighborhood effect of forest on species richness of scavengers in the tundra of Finnmark, northern Norway. One of the species that contributed to this pattern - the hooded crow (*Corvus cornix*) – is known to be a very efficient nest predator (Erikstad et al. 1982, Pedersen et al. 2009, Klausen et al. 2010). The stoat (*Mustela erminea*) and least weasel (*Mustela nivalis*) are rodent specialists that occasionally predate bird nests, and their distribution has also been suggested to depend on the productivity of surrounding areas (Oksanen et al. 1992). This is supported by a later study on spatial patterns and dynamic responses of arctic food webs in Finnmark, which additionally suggested that the red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*) had high activity in the most productive parts of their study areas (Aunapuu et al. 2008). Thus even across short distances

an increase in predation pressure on tundra bird nests with decreasing distance to forest should be expected by several predators.

Many predators on ground nesting birds respond to the abundance of their main prey, a typical example being small rodents like voles and lemmings that exhibit large-amplitude multi-annual population density cycles, especially in boreal and arctic regions (Ims et al. 2011). Both avian and mammalian predators respond numerically and functionally to the main prey's population peaks and then switch to alternative prey species when their main prey becomes scarce (Hagen 1952, Lack 1954, Angelstam et al. 1984, Smith et al. 2007). Alternative prey often includes eggs and juveniles of ground nesting birds (Steen et al. 1988, Valkama et al. 2005). Multi-annual production cycles of many ground-nesting birds are generally attributed to the phenomenon of indirect interactions in food webs driven by predator-prey dynamics (Lack 1954, Holt and Lawton 1994).

The aim of this study was test these expectations regarding spatio-temporal patterns of nest predation based on the ecosystem exploitation hypothesis and the alternative prey hypothesis, trough the placement of artificial nests along replicated distance-gradients from the forest border and into tundra plateaus. I hypothesized that ground-nesting birds can escape predation by breeding in less productive habitats, and expected therefore a decrease in predation rates with increased distance from forest. The study was conducted in the coastal peninsulas of sub-arctic and low-arctic Finnmark in northernmost Fennoscandia. It extended over four summers, which included most phases of the small rodent population cycles in Finnmark. I expected the overall predation rates to vary annually according to small rodent abundances, with highest predation rates in the crash phase of the small rodent cycle.

2. Material and methods

2.1 Study area

The study was carried out during the early summer in 2010-2013 in Finnmark County, northern Norway. A total of nine study blocks were selected and situated from the Porsanger peninsula in the west to the Varanger peninsula in the east, covering all four low arctic peninsulas in Finnmark (fig. 1). Finnmark consists of a mosaic of sub-arctic birch forest, sub-arctic mountain tundra and low arctic tundra, but about half (50%) of the area is situated above the tree limit (Moen et al. 1999).



Figure. 1. Map of Northern Fennoscandia. The box indicates the location of the study area in Finnmark County, Northern Norway, including the approximate locations of the nine different study blocks (Kokelv, Porsanger, Skoganvarre, Sværholt, Veidnes, Børselvfjellet, Nordkynn, Ifjordfjellet and Varanger). More detailed map of each study block is represented in figure 3.

The main ground nesting birds in the study area are willow (*Lagopus lagopus*) - and rock (*L. mutus*) ptarmigan, in addition to several species of waders, ducks, and passerines

(Killengreen et al. 2007, Ims and Henden 2012). Expected predators of ground nests in the area are avian omnivores like the common raven (*Corvus corvus*), hooded crow, and magpie (*Pica pica*). The red fox is the only expected mammalian generalist predator. In addition, some rodent specialist predators are potential nest predators, such as the long-tailed skua (*Stercorarius longicaudus*), the arctic fox (*Alopex lagopus*), the least weasel, and the stoat (Angelstam 1986, Frafjord 2004, Killengreen et al. 2007).

The rodent community in the study area consists mainly of grey-sided vole (*Myodes rufocanus*), tundra vole (*Microtus oeconomus*) and the Norwegian lemming (*Lemmus lemmus*) (Killengreen et al. 2007). Small rodent populations in Finnmark exhibit spatially synchronous 4-5 year density cycles (Oksanen and Oksanen 1981, Killengreen et al. 2007). The four year duration of the study made it possible to assess predation rates on the artificial nests in the pre-peak (2010), peak (2011), crash (2012) and low (2013) year of the cycle (fig.2).



Figure. 2. Small rodent trapping data (number of gray-sided vole, tundra vole and lemming caught per 100 trap nights, V = spring capture, H = autumn capture) from three of the study areas (Nordkynn, Ifjordfjellet, Varanger) (cf. Ims et al. 2011).

2.2 Study design

Within each peninsula, 1-3 study blocks were selected, ranging from the coast to the interior of the peninsulas. Within each of the nine study blocks two transects were established with a minimum distance of two kilometers between each in order to minimize the chance of predation by the same predator. The two transects were therefore considered as independent units. Each transect contained ten artificial nests (plots), resulting in 180 nests (9 blocks*2 transects*10 plots/nests) each year (fig.3). The nests were placed on a gradient from the birch forest border and roughly two kilometers into the adjacent tundra, with approximately two hundred meter spacing between each nest (fig.4).



Figure 3. Maps of each of the nine study blocks in Finnmark, Northern Norway. Each study block held two transects with ten plots each, represented here by the dots (n=180).



Figure. 4. Sketch of the study design where the nests were deployed from the birch forest border and into the adjacent tundra. Each transect was about 2 km long, with an approximate 200 m spacing between each nest.

Thus the transects represent a gradient in terms of increasing distance from forest edge and a possible decreasing predator spill-over effect. Note, however that most of the distance gradients also represented an altitude gradient giving a positive correlation (r=0.53) between distance from forest and altitude (fig.5).The nests were deployed within the local nesting period for most ground nesting birds such as waders and ptarmigan in the region (between the 23^{rd} and 30^{th} of June) (Haftorn 1971).



Figure 5. Correspondence between distance from forest and altitude for the 180 nests.

2.3 Artificial nests

Each artificial nest was handmade by creating a small bowl in the ground without adding any nest material, similar to the nests that ptarmigans and waders would use. Each nest contained one quail (*Coturnix sp.*) egg and one plasticine egg made to mimic a quail egg (fig. 6). Gloves were used when making the depressions in order to reduce human scent. The plasticine eggs were attached to the bottom of the nests by steel wire, and were used in order to acquire predator identity from possible bite marks (Kurucz et al. 2010). The amount of vegetation covering the nests/eggs differed greatly between the plots, but cover tended to decrease with increasing distance from forest (fig.7). To assess the effect of this variation the amount of cover was scored on a three-level nominal scale ranging from low to high degree of vegetation cover (1-3) (fig.6). The vegetation height was also measured at each nest, but correlated closely with cover ($\mathbf{r} = 0.6$), and was therefore not used in further analysis of the data (fig.8).



Figure 6. Example pictures of the artificial nests, portraying the three different categories of vegetation cover (1-3).



Figure 7. The proportion of nests of three different categories of vegetation cover on nests (1-3) according to distance to forest (1-10). Cover 1 represents no vegetation cover, Cover 2 medium vegetation cover, and Cover 3 large vegetation cover (fig.6).



Figure 8. Vegetation height and degree of vegetation covering the nests showed a positive correlation (Cover 1-3) (r = 0.6).

In order to place the nests at exactly the same locations every year, UTM coordinates and a detailed description of exact placement were noted for each artificial nest. The location of the nests were also marked with blue tape, which was placed at a distance of minimum 10 meters away from the nests to reduce the chance of the tape itself attracting potential nest predators (Picozzi 1975). The nests were left without human disturbance for about 14 days until checked and collected during the first half of July in all three years. Depredation was recorded if either one or both eggs were missing or damaged.



Figure 9. Plasticine eggs recovered in the field with beak mark from a corvid to the left and teeth marks from a fox in the middle. The picture to the right shows fresh feces from a mustelide on top of a pile of lemming pellets found next to one of the artificial nests.

Upon examination of the nest sites, mammal or avian predator was immediately classified, but pictures were also taken in order to re-identify at a later time (fig.9). The size and shape of beak and teeth marks, in addition to feces in some nests, gave reliable clues to help identify specific predators beyond the general distinction between mammal and birds (fig.9). However, it is hard to determine predator identity from beak marks, so only two different taxonomic groups of avian predators were used; corvids vs other unidentified avian predators. If there were uncertainties about the identity of the predators, or the plasticine egg was not marked or missing, it was recorded as an unknown predator.

2.4 Statistical analyses

The response variable (predation) has a binomial distribution, therefore generalized mixed effect models (GLMM) were chosen for analyzing the data (Lewis 2004, Bolker et al. 2009). Fixed effects in the model were nest-distance from forest (from now on referred to as distance) (from 1 to 10, with 1 closest to the tree line), year (2010-2013), and nest cover (1, 2, 3). The plots (each individual nest) and blocks (Kokelv, Porsanger, Skoganvarre, Børselv, Veidnes, Sværholt, Nordkynn, Ifjord, Varanger), were treated as random effects in the

models, since they represented a sample of all the possible plots and blocks available within the general study area (Bolker et al. 2009). GLMMs were fitted using the lme4 package (Bates 2012) in the software R (R Development Core Team. 2009).

The alternative expected spatio-temporal patterns were assessed with stepwise removal of fixed effect terms starting from the most complex model with *cover* + *year* + *distance* + *year*distance*. The year*distance term was included to account for annual differences in small rodent abundances and species separation in choice of habitat with lemmings often found in high densities at higher altitudes than the other small rodent species (Ims et al. 2011, Killengreen et al. 2013). The significance of each term was assessed by likelihood ratio test.

3. Results

3.1 Nest predation rates

All fixed effects terms, except for distance*year interactions were statistically significant (p<0.05). Thus the model used for estimating effect sizes included the additive effects of *distance to forest*, *year* and *cover*.

The estimated predation rates showed a consistent linear increase (on the logit scale) with the distance from forest (Odds ratio per 200 m increase in distance from forest = 1.20, p = 0.002) (fig. 10). Removing cover from the model, which to some extent was confounded with distance, gave a larger effect of distance (Odds ratio = 1.30, p = <0.001).



Figure. 10. Predicted predation rates on nests according to distance from forest (nest # 1-10, 1 being closest to forest and where distance between successive nests are approximately 200m). Lines give the estimated fixed effect from the logistic predictor while the points include the random block and plot effects. All predictions are made conditional on Cover=1.

The overall predation rates varied significantly among years (fig.11), with the lowest predation rates occurring during the first year of the study (2010) followed by a steady increase and subsequently peaked during the lemming crash year (2012). In turn, this was followed by a reduction in predation rates during the low phase (2013; fig.11). Predation rates

increased more than a five-fold from 2010 to 2011 (Odds ratio (2010-2011) =5.2, p = <0.001), and in 2012 predation rates were thirteen times higher than in 2010 (Odds ratio (2010-2012) =13.3, p = <0.001) and almost three times higher than 2011 (Odds ratio (2011-2012) = 2.6, p = 0.001). In 2013 the estimated predation rates declined by 50% from 2012 (Odds ratio (2012-2013) = 0.5, p = 0.02), but were still 7 times higher than 2010 (Odds ratio (2010-2013) =7.0, p = <0.001) and slightly, but not significantly, higher than in 2011(Odds ratio (2011-2013 = 1.4, p = 0.3).

The highest predation rates occurred in nests with the least vegetation cover (cover 1; fig.11). These rates were three times larger than nests with higher degree of vegetation cover (fig. 11) (Odds ratio (2-1) = 2.6, p = 0.003. Odds ratio (3-1) = 3.0, p = 0.07).



Figure. 11. Estimated nest predation risk (with 95 % CI using the function EzPredict in R) according to the degree of vegetation cover per nests for all years of the study (2010 – 2013).

Although the distance*year interactions were not statistically significant, the estimated effect sizes from the model with this interaction revealed an annual variation in the influence of distance from forest. The year 2010 had the smallest effect with 1.5 % increase in predation rates per 200 m increase in distance from forest. The year of 2012 had the highest effect of distance from forest with an increase of 8.6 % per 200 m increase in distance from forest,

while 2011 and 2013 both had an increase of 2.8 % per 200 m increase in distance from forest.

3.2 Predator identity

A large proportion of the predation events could not be attributed to any known predator species or taxon (30-40 % per year; fig.12) since the plasticine eggs were either missing or untouched. Among predator taxa that could be identified based on beak and teeth marks corvids were most common in all years except 2013, followed by unidentified birds (fig.12). Mammalian predation was relatively uncommon, but was greatest in 2012 and 2013, with foxes as the main mammalian predator (fig.12). Due to the large proportion of events with unknown predator identity these data were not analyzed statistically.



Figure. 12. Proportion of predation events attributed to the different categories of predators (including unknown) in all years of the study (2010-2013).

4. Discussion

In all years of the study predation rates were found to be highest on the artificial nests placed furthest away from the forest edge. These results were unexpected since I anticipated that the predation would be highest on the nests placed closest to the birch forest due to a spillover effect of predators (Killengreen 2011). There was an annual difference in overall predation rates, which seemed to follow the cyclicity of the local small rodent populations and therefore was in agreement with both the alternative prey hypothesis (Hagen 1952, Lack 1954) and my expectations.

A possible explanation for the unexpected increase in predation rates away from forest might be the nest predators' response to main prey abundances. Parallel to the present study, Ims et al. (2013) found the Norwegian lemming to be a much stronger predictor of increased nest predation through the alternative prey mechanism than sympatric voles. This is further supported by studies that have involved other arctic lemming species (Blomqvist et al. 2002, Smith et al. 2007). In Finnmark the Norwegian lemming differ from other small rodent species in terms of their increase in abundance with increasing altitudes and distance from the birch forest (Ims et al. 2011, Killengreen et al. 2013). If mobile predators aggregate according to abundance of the lemming this could in fact inflict higher nest predation rates at high altitudes far from the forest.

Data on small rodent abundances in the study area show that the populations of lemmings started to increase prior to the first year of the study, peaked in the second, crashed in the third, and remained low or absent in the fourth year (fig.2). The overall predation rates followed this pattern with highest predation rates in the crash year, as expected from the alternative prey hypothesis and in accordance to several other studies on nest predation (i.e. Angelstam et al. 1984, Wegge and Storaas 1990, Blomqvist et al. 2002, Smith et al. 2007, Ims

et al. 2013). Although the interaction between year and distance from forest edge was not statistically significant, the effect did vary between years with the lowest effect occurring in the pre-peak year and highest in the crash year in lemming abundances. This might reflect a numerical and functional response of predators to the increase in abundance of small rodents (Wegge and Storaas 1990), and maybe in particular lemmings.

The identification of nest predators showed that avian predators were almost exclusively present the first two years of the study, which indicates that they are the drivers of this pattern. The research of Killengreen et al. (2012) indicated that the common raven, a scavenger, did not show connection to forest edge and was the most dominant predator in the area. Ravens have shown a spatial response to lemming abundances (Ims et al. 2013), and have also been suggested to show very high predation rates on nests (Andren 1992). Longtailed skuas might also have contributed to the pattern of higher predation rates further from forest edge since they concentrate in the less productive parts of the arctic tundra (Aunapuu et al. 2008). During fieldwork of the present study, both ravens and long-tailed skuas were indeed the most frequent nest predators observed in the uppermost parts of the study areas. Hooded crows, which were expected predators on the nests, were rarely seen. This might be a result of the study areas decreased proximity to large human settlements, forest, and agricultural activity which this particular predator shows a strong connection to (Andren 1992). This is supported by other nest predation studies situated in forest and/or closer to larger human settlements which found the hooded crow to be the dominant predator (Pedersen et al. 2009, Klausen et al. 2010).

Mammals were identified as nest predators in the last two years of the study, which was the crash- and low phase in the lemming cycle (fig. 2). Some predators are suggested to show a one-year delay in the numerical and functional response to main prey abundances, and therefore inflict highest predation rates in the decline phase of the lemming cycle (Angelstam

et al. 1984, Wegge and Storaas 1990). Additionally, Oksanen et al. (1992) suggested that stoat and least weasel might move to more barren areas when there is an overexploitation of prey in the best habitats. Mammalian predation might therefore have contributed to the increased effect of distance from the forest edge on predation rates in the third year of the study. This temporal variability in nest predation by mammalian predators might be the reason why some short-term nest studies has failed to detect mammalian predation (i.e. Klausen et al. 2010).

The predation rates decreased in the last year of the study (low phase), but were still higher than I would expect in a lemming cycle low phase. This might indicate that more prey are available in these areas then first anticipated, allowing predators to stay longer than they otherwise would. The lemming abundances crashed during the winter of 2012 (fig. 2), which might have resulted in many lemming carcasses being available to carnivores after the snow melt in the following spring. This could also indicate that some predators have a 2-year time lag in the numerical response to main prey abundances. The red fox for example showed highest predation rates in the last year of the study. Additionally, most of the study blocks are summer pastures for semi-domesticated reindeer (*Rangifer tarandus*) that provides a key resource for the community of carnivores, including corvids and foxes (Killengreen et al. 2012, Hamel et al. 2013). Due to an overabundance of reindeer in some regions it is likely that reindeer carrion, and reindeer calves, provides generalist predators with a temporal food source through the winter.

Reindeers often disperse to more barren areas, i.e. the tundra, during the warm summer months in order to avoid insect harassment (Hagemoen and Reimers 2002). Studies on stomach content and scat samples from red fox have shown that their diet contains reindeer as the second main prey type next to small rodents (Frafjord 2004, Killengreen et al. 2007, Killengreen et al. 2013), and in rodent low years reindeer carrion dominate the diets (Killengreen et al. 2011). Killengreen et al. (2012) found corvids, especially ravens, and red

foxes to be the most common predators on reindeer carcasses, which were also the most common avian and mammalian predators on the artificial nests in this study. Subsidies might allow predators to stay in the area longer than they usually would after a crash in main prey abundances, and therefore would help explain the higher predation rates in the less productive parts of the transects especially during low lemming abundances. This increases the concern around the recent increase observed in abundance and distribution of generalist predators over the last decades (Storch and Willebrand 1991, Tannerfeldt et al. 2002, Storch 2007, Fletcher et al. 2010). I therefore suggest that future studies look into the effect of reindeer abundances on predation rates of ground nesting tundra birds through shared generalist predators.

In addition, degree of vegetation cover significantly effected predation rates, with highest predation rates occurring on nests with least amount of cover, which is supported by some other studies on ground nesting birds (Wiebe and Martin 1998, Munkebye et al. 2003). Vegetation cover functions as an important food source, shelter, and predator protection for many ground nesting birds (Ims and Henden 2012). Little cover might make nests easier to locate, especially for avian predators which highly depend on visual cues in order to locate prey (Klausen et al. 2010 and citations therein), and some species may even develop search images for nests (Erikstad et al. 1982, Sonerud and Fjeld 1987). There was a tendency towards less vegetation covering the nests with increasing distance from the forest edge (fig.7), which might suggest that these were easier to locate. However, the effect of distance from forest was independent of vegetation cover, and can therefore not be explained by degree of vegetation cover alone.

Conclusion

A recent study on common montane birds in northern Europe show a decline in many ground nesting bird species that occur in my study area (Lehikoinen et al. 2014), and mentioned that climate change can potentially result in loss of breeding range due to an

increase in the altitudinal tree line, threatening especially tundra species. On the scale of Finnmark County, Norway it seems like ground nesting birds do not escape predation by breeding in less productive habitats. Ground nesting species that make their bird nests in the tundra experience higher predation pressure than birds breeding in more productive habitats (e.g. forests). This might be a result of higher visibility of nests, in particular to avian predators, responses to abundance of main prey species, or responses to availability of alternative prey such as reindeer further away from forest. Together with an increase in generalist abundance and distribution this might cause some species of ground nesting tundra birds to be even more dependent on the regular release from predation pressure during the peak phase of the lemming cycle.

Acknowledgements

I would first like to thank my supervisors Rolf Anker Ims and John André Henden for their supervision, statistical help and guidance. I would also like to thank Jane Jepsen at NINA for helping me with maps, and Siw Killengreen for contributing with small rodent trapping data. My field assistant Christian get a thanks for helping me in my first week of fieldwork.

A big thanks to Jen Schmidt for correcting my English, and for the occasional "you can do it" in the office. Thanks to my fellow students and friends for brainstorming, proofreading, statistical counseling, and support. I would like to thank my second field assistant and one of my best friends Mary-Ann Wara for keeping up with me two-three weeks in a tent, and thank both of us for not killing each other or getting killed by wasps or other ugly bugs. It was great fun, challenging, and a trip of I lifetime that I will never forget! I would also like to thank my family for showing encouragement and support these two years, and for being there through good times and bad times. A special thank goes to my wonderful mother Kristin Jacobsen for always being there to encourage me and lift me. This would have been harder to complete without your support and love. Thank you.

It has been challenging, frustrating, educative, and eventful. Thank you for the ride.

References

- Andren, H. 1992. Corvid Density and Nest Predation in Relation to Forest Fragmentation a Landscape Perspective. Ecology **73**:794-804.
- Angelstam, P. 1986. Predation on Ground-Nesting Birds Nests in Relation to Predator Densities and Habitat Edge. Oikos **47**:365-373.
- Angelstam, P., E. Lindstrom, and P. Widen. 1984. Role of Predation in Short-Term Population Fluctuations of Some Birds and Mammals in Fennoscandia. Oecologia 62:199-208.
- Aunapuu, M., J. Dahlgren, T. Oksanen, D. Grellmann, L. Oksanen, J. Olofsson, U. Rammul, M. Schneider, B. Johansen, and H. O. Hygen. 2008. Spatial patterns and dynamic responses of arctic food webs corroborate the exploitation ecosystems hypothesis (EEH). American Naturalist 171:249-262.
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., & Dai, B. . 2012. Linear mixed-effects models using S4 classes [computer software]. Available at: <u>http://cran.r-</u>project.org/web/packages/lme4/lme4.pdf:9-11.
- Blomqvist, S., N. Holmgren, S. Akesson, A. Hedenstrom, and J. Pettersson. 2002. Indirect effects of lemming cycles on sandpiper dynamics: 50 years of counts from southern Sweden. Oecologia **133**:146-158.
- Bolker, B. M., M. E. Brooks, C. J. Clark, S. W. Geange, J. R. Poulsen, M. H. H. Stevens, and J. S. S. White. 2009. Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 24:127-135.
- Erikstad, K. E., R. Blom, and S. Myrberget. 1982. Territorial Hooded Crows as Predators on Willow Ptarmigan Nests. Journal of Wildlife Management **46**:109-114.
- Fletcher, K., N. J. Aebischer, D. Baines, R. Foster, and A. N. Hoodless. 2010. Changes in breeding success and abundance of ground-nesting moorland birds in relation to the experimental deployment of legal predator control. Journal of Applied Ecology 47:263-272.
- Frafjord, K. 2004. Winter range of a red fox (Vulpes vulpes) group in a northern birch forest. Mammalian Biology **69**:342-348.
- Haftorn, S. 1971. Norges fugler. Universitetsforlaget, Oslo.
- Hagemoen, R. I. M., and E. Reimers. 2002. Reindeer summer activity pattern in relation to weather and insect harassment. Journal of Animal Ecology **71**:883-892.

Hagen, Y. 1952. Rovfuglene og viltpleien. Gyldendal, Oslo.

- Hamel, S., S. T. Killengreen, J. A. Henden, N. G. Yoccoz, and R. A. Ims. 2013. Disentangling the importance of interspecific competition, food availability, and habitat in species occupancy: Recolonization of the endangered Fennoscandian arctic fox. Biological Conservation 160:114-120.
- Holt, R. D., and J. H. Lawton. 1994. The Ecological Consequences of Shared Natural Enemies. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics **25**:495-520.
- Ims, R. A., and J. A. Henden. 2012. Collapse of an arctic bird community resulting from ungulate-induced loss of erect shrubs. Biological Conservation **149**:2-5.
- Ims, R. A., J. A. Henden, A. V. Thingnes, and S. T. Killengreen. 2013. Indirect food web interactions mediated by predator-rodent dynamics: relative roles of lemmings and voles. Biol Lett 9:20130802.
- Ims, R. A., N. G. Yoccoz, and S. T. Killengreen. 2011. Determinants of lemming outbreaks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108:1970-1974.
- Jehl, J. R. 1970. Patterns of Hatching Success in Subarctic Birds. Ecology 52:169-&.
- Killengreen, S. T., R. A. Ims, J. A. Henden, N. G. Yoccoz, and D. Ehrich. 2013. Prosjekt "Fjellrev i Finnmark", Rapport for 2008 - 2012. <u>http://www.fjellrev-finnmark.uit.no/rapport%202008-2012.pdf</u>.
- Killengreen, S. T., R. A. Ims, N. G. Yoccoz, K. A. Brathen, J. A. Henden, and T. Schott. 2007. Structural characteristics of a low Arctic tundra ecosystem and the retreat of the Arctic fox. Biological Conservation 135:459-472.
- Killengreen, S. T., N. Lecomte, D. Ehrich, T. Schott, N. G. Yoccoz, and R. A. Ims. 2011. The importance of marine vs. human-induced subsidies in the maintenance of an expanding mesocarnivore in the arctic tundra. Journal of Animal Ecology 80:1049-1060.
- Killengreen, S. T., E. Stromseng, N. G. Yoccoz, and R. A. Ims. 2012. How ecological neighbourhoods influence the structure of the scavenger guild in low arctic tundra. Diversity and Distributions **18**:563-574.
- Klausen, K. B., A. O. Pedersen, N. G. Yoccoz, and R. A. Ims. 2010. Prevalence of nest predators in a sub-Arctic ecosystem. European Journal of Wildlife Research 56:221-232.
- Kurucz, K., H. Kallenberger, C. Szigeti, and J. J. Purger. 2010. Survival Probabilities of First and Second Clutches of Blackbird (Turdus Merula) in an Urban Environment. Archives of Biological Sciences 62:489-493.
- Lack, D. 1954. Cyclic Mortality. Journal of Wildlife Management 18:25-37.
- Lehikoinen, A., M. Green, M. Husby, J. A. Kalas, and A. Lindstrom. 2014. Common montane birds are declining in northern Europe. Journal of Avian Biology **45**:3-14.

- Lewis, K. P. 2004. How important is the statistical approach for analyzing categorical data? A critique using artificial nests. Oikos **104**:305-315.
- McKinnon, L., and J. Bety. 2009. Effect of camera monitoring on survival rates of High-Arctic shorebird nests. Journal of Field Ornithology **80**:280-288.
- McKinnon, L., P. A. Smith, E. Nol, J. L. Martin, F. I. Doyle, K. F. Abraham, H. G. Gilchrist, R. I. G. Morrison, and J. Bety. 2010. Lower Predation Risk for Migratory Birds at High Latitudes. Science 327:326-327.
- Moen, A., A. Lillethun, and A. Odland. 1999. Vegetation. Norwegian Mapping Authority, Hønefoss.
- Munkebye, E., H. Pedersen, J. Steen, and H. Brøseth. 2003. Predation of eggs and incubating females in willow ptarmigan *Lagopus*. *l. lagopus*.
- Myrberget, S. 1984. Population dynamics of willow grouse *Lagopus l. lagopus* in Norway. Fauna Nor Ser C Cinclus:95-105.
- Oksanen, L., and T. Oksanen. 1981. Lemmings (Lemmus-Lemmus) and Grey-Sided Voles (Clethrio-Nomys-Rufocanus) in Interaction with Their Resources and Predators on Finnmarksvidda, Northern Norway. Reports from the Kevo Subarctic Research Station **17**:7-31.
- Oksanen, T., L. Oksanen, and M. Norberg. 1992. Habitat Use of Small Mustelids in North Fennoscandian Tundra - a Test of the Hypothesis of Patchy Exploitation Ecosystems. Ecography **15**:237-244.
- Pedersen, A. O., N. G. Yoccoz, and R. A. Ims. 2009. Spatial and temporal patterns of artificial nest predation in mountain birch forests fragmented by spruce plantations. European Journal of Wildlife Research 55:371-384.
- Pedersen, H. C., and D. H. Karlsen. 2007. Alt om rypa biologi, jakt, forvaltning. Tun forlag AS.
- Picozzi, N. 1975. Crow Predation on Marked Nests. Journal of Wildlife Management **39**:151-155.
- R Development Core Team. 2009. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Smith, P. A., H. G. Gilchrist, and J. N. M. Smith. 2007. Effects of nest habitat, food, and parental behavior on shorebird nest success. Condor **109**:15-31.
- Sonerud, G. A., and P. E. Fjeld. 1987. Long-Term-Memory in Egg Predators an Experiment with a Hooded Crow. Ornis Scandinavica **18**:323-325.
- Steen, J. B., and O. A. Haugvold. 2009. Cause of death in willow ptarmigan Lagopus l. lagopus chicks and the effect of intensive, local predator control on chick production. Wildlife Biology 15:53-59.

- Steen, J. B., H. Steen, N. C. Stenseth, S. Myrberget, and V. Marcstrom. 1988. Microtine Density and Weather as Predictors of Chick Production in Willow Ptarmigan, Lagopus .1. Lagopus. Oikos 51:367-373.
- Storch, I. 2007. Conservation status of grouse worldwide: an update. Wildlife Biology **13**:5-12.
- Storch, I., and T. Willebrand. 1991. Management Implications of Nest and Brood Predation in Grouse. Ornis Scandinavica **22**:271-272.
- Summers, R. W., R. E. Green, R. Proctor, D. Dugan, D. Lambie, R. Moncrieff, R. Moss, and D. Baines. 2004. An experimental study of the effects of predation on the breeding productivity of capercaillie and black grouse. Journal of Applied Ecology 41:513-525.
- Tannerfeldt, M., B. Elmhagen, and A. Angerbjorn. 2002. Exclusion by interference competition? The relationship between red and arctic foxes. Oecologia **132**:213-220.
- Valkama, J., E. Korpimaki, B. Arroyo, P. Beja, V. Bretagnolle, E. Bro, R. Kenward, S. Manosa, S. M. Redpath, S. Thirgood, and J. Vinuela. 2005. Birds of prey as limiting factors of gamebird populations in Europe: a review. Biological Reviews 80:171-203.
- Wegge, P., and T. Storaas. 1990. Nest Loss in Capercaillie and Black Grouse in Relation to the Small Rodent Cycle in Southeast Norway. Oecologia **82**:527-530.
- Wiebe, K. L., and K. Martin. 1998. Costs and benefits of nest cover for ptarmigan: changes within and between years. ANIMAL BEHAVIOUR, 1998, 56, 1137–1144 Article No. ar980862.